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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Chairman's Report

  

On behalf of the Board of Directors it is my pleasure to present the Chairman's Report for the 45th Annual
General Meeting of Coastline Credit Union.  

Challenges to the world economy have come to the fore once again in 2011 and uncertainty has characterised
the Australian economy. Consumer sentiment has been sluggish and there is a sense of caution among
Australians at the present time. Despite the challenges Coastline has continued to perform well with an
operating model that focuses on efficiencies and delivering benefits to members in a disciplined way. 

Another Solid Result

Your Board is pleased to report that 2010/11 was another year of solid achievement and progress.  Coastline
recorded an after-tax profit of $1.523m which is a 12.6% increase on the previous year’s result. Total assets
increased by 8.3% to $272 million which reflects the confidence members have in Coastline. We are in a
prudentially sound position with capital adequacy level well above regulatory requirements, low levels of loan
arrears and a strategic plan to grow the organisation and to continue to return value to members. 

5 Star Ratings  

During the year our Minimiser Home Loan, Visa Rewarder Credit Card, Car Loan Fixed and Personal Loans
Secured were awarded coveted Canstar Cannex 5 Star Ratings. Canstar Cannex is a leading financial research
and ratings agency operating in Australia and New Zealand. They undertake and publish Australia’s and New
Zealand’s only truly comprehensive analysis of financial products. The Star Rating results are driven by a team
of expert financial analysts who use a unique methodology to assign product ratings. Each product will go
through a rigorous analysis of its pricing and features and the results will equate to a Star Rating. Only the top
5% of all products analysed will receive the prestigious Canstar Cannex 5 Star Rating.

The Minimiser Home Loan was awarded five stars for outstanding value. This means that it is in the top 5% of
all mortgages surveyed. The Credit Card rating is based on a comprehensive review of over 180 credit cards
and only a handful of credit cards in Australia are awarded 5 star ratings. In compiling the Car and Personal
Loan comparison Canstar Cannex evaluated 341 personal loan products from 77 institutions. They drilled these
numbers down into 51 secured personal loans, 92 unsecured personal loans and 262 car loans. Only the top
10% in each category were awarded five stars denoting outstanding value. 

Coastline - it all comes back to our Members

Coastline’s business, personal and family members are part of the 4.5 million Australians who prefer to do their
banking at a place where profits go back to members by creating better products and services. That’s why a
number of Credit Unions and Building Societies in Australia have joined together with the new circles TV
campaign “It all comes back to our Members”. The campaign tells the story about what makes Credit Unions
and building societies a real alternative to banks.

Fee-Free Banking

Locally and across Australia members enjoy unlimited fee-free ATM transactions at Westpac, St George, Bank
SA, Coastline and BCU. Our BPay, Direct Debit & Credit, Internet and Phone Banking services are also fee-
free. Plus, our generous Rewards Program ensures that the more members use Coastline’s comprehensive range
of banking, loans and investment services - the less they will pay in fees and charges.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Coastline Community Foundation

Since inauguration in 2002, Coastline has provided over $555,000 to the Coastline Community Foundation and
over 170 worthy local causes have benefited from Foundation grants. Another $76,000 has been earmarked for
projects in 2011. The Foundation’s goal is to provide support to organisations that provide benefits to local
communities and includes funding to groups such as: volunteer organisations, family support organisations,
environmental organisations, tourism, community assets and education. This is one of the many ways Coastline
shows its support to the communities in which we operate.

People and Leadership

Over several years the Board has undergone a process of renewal as a number of long standing Directors have
retired. Our AGM will mark the retirement of one such Director Kel Wright. Kel was elected to the Board in
September 1993 and has served numerous committees’ and was Chairman of the Loans Committee for many
years. 

Coastline’s General Manager Peter Townsend continues to serve on the Indue Board. Indue provides wholesale
banking services to Australian Credit Unions. 

Closing

In closing my report I would like to thank my fellow Board members for their co-operation, teamwork and
support throughout the year.  My thanks must go to our General Manager Peter Townsend, his management
team and staff for their efforts in achieving the trading performance and providing professional, friendly and
efficient banking services to our members. 

A Hudson

Chairman
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Corporate Governance Report

  

Overview

The Board supports the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance
which defines the framework under which Coastline operates. Board Committees are responsible for advising
the Board and monitoring Coastline’s compliance with these principles. The implementation of this disciplined
governance structure ensures appropriate development, prioritisation and delivery of business strategies, as well
as consistent and informed decision making for Coastline to conduct activities and achieve its objectives. In
addition the Board Committees continues to ensure compliance with APRA’s Corporate Governance Prudential
Standard. 

The Board of Directors is accountable to the Credit Union to ensure the safety of member funds and that the
organisation operates in a sustainable and responsible way. The Board aims to achieve these objectives
through: 

• improving the performance of Coastline through the formulation, adoption and monitoring of corporate

strategies, budgets, plans, policies and performance;

• setting strategic direction, targets and monitoring the performance of Management and of itself;

• monitoring the conduct of senior management;

• ensuring the annual review of succession planning;

• identifying and monitoring the management of the principal risks and the financial performance of

Coastline; and

• putting appropriate procedures in place to satisfy its corporate and legal responsibilities whilst

conducting its business in compliance with all laws and in an honest, open and ethical manner.

Subject to certain reservations, the Board has delegated responsibility for the management of the day-to-day
activities of Coastline to its General Manager.

Board Meetings

The number of Board meetings and each director’s attendance at those meetings are set out in the Directors
Report. Directors are expected to prepare adequately for, attend and participate at Board meetings and meetings
of committees. The Board meets principally at its Head Office in Kempsey.

Induction and Continuing Education

Management, working with the Board, provides an orientation program for new Directors. The program
includes discussions with executives and management, and where requested, the external auditor, and reading
material. These cover Coastline’s strategic plans, its significant financial, accounting and risk management
issues, compliance programs, management structure, internal and external audit programs, and Directors rights,
duties and responsibilities. Management periodically conducts additional information sessions for Directors
about the organisation, and the factors impacting, or likely to impact, on its business. These assist Directors to
gain a broader understanding of the organisation. Directors are also encouraged to keep up to date on topical
issues.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Performance Evaluation

The Board assesses its effectiveness each year through an evaluation process, which includes assessment of:

• the appropriateness and relevance of the meeting schedule and agenda;

• the appropriateness, relevance, content and standard of Board material;

• the identification and appropriate management of risks faced by the organisation;

• the range and standard of skills available at Board level;

• the collective and individual performance of Directors, and the scope of Directors contributions; and

• the performance of its Chairman.

In addition, the Board assesses annually the performance of the General Manager and Senior Management
against agreed objectives. 

Remuneration of Directors

Directors are remunerated by the organisation, with shareholders determining the maximum annual aggregate
amount of remuneration that may be provided to them at the Annual General Meeting. From this amount
individual Directors are remunerated based on a policy of compensation towards the middle quartile of the
general market, which is appropriate to the size and complexity of the organisation. The Remuneration
Committee receives advice from independent experts on appropriate levels of director remuneration and guides
the Board in this regard. 

Performance & Remuneration of Senior Management

The organisation’s performance management framework covers all senior management and entails the setting
of Key Performance Indicators (including both financial and non-financial measures). Performance discussions
are conducted bi-annually between each senior manager and their manager, with a formal end of year review
which includes comparing and calibrating each senior executive to the performance of peers. The Board, on
advice from the Remuneration Committee, sets the remuneration and performance objectives of the General
Manager and Senior Management. Remuneration is reviewed within a Board-established framework and the
Remuneration Committee is assisted by independent experts providing advice and benchmarking data. 

Access to Management

Board members have complete and open access to management. The Company Secretary provides advice and
support to the Board and is responsible for the day-to-day governance framework. Access to Independent
Professional Advice guidelines entitles each director to seek independent professional advice at the
organisation’s expense, with the prior approval of the Chairman.

The Board can conduct or direct any investigation to fulfill its responsibilities and can retain, at its expense,
any legal, accounting or other services, it considers necessary to perform its duties.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Board Committees

To assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities, the Board has established a number of Committees. Each
Committee has its own charter, which sets out its responsibilities. The Board had the following Committees
during the financial year:

• Audit Committee;

• Risk Committee;

• Executive Committee;

• Loans Committee;

• Remuneration Committee; 

• Nominations Committee; and

• Coastline Community Foundation Committee. 

Audit Committee

Principle Responsibilities

• Review the effectiveness of internal financial controls;

• Oversee the financial, management and statutory reporting;

• Oversee the internal and external audit processes, including reports and management responses;

• Review of risk management systems, including policies and procedures and business continuity plan; 

• Review external audit arrangements annually, including fulfillment of statutory and professional

obligations.

Risk Committee 

Principal Responsibilities

• Review the effectiveness of the Credit Union internal risk management systems;

• Oversee and appraise the effectiveness of the internal risk management program; 

• Consider the adequacy of operational and market risk controls and compliance with Prudential

Standards;

• Undertake any role assigned to the Committee in accordance with any Board policy.

Executive Committee

Principal Responsibilities

• Monitor the functions of the Credit Union between Board meetings, take any immediate action it

considers necessary and report to the Board

• Ensure that facilities are available for satisfactory training and education of Directors.

• To advise the Board in relation to the Board’s adopted statement of corporate governance principles;

• To review the Board’s committee structure and to establish principles under which they operate in

accordance with the constitution and good corporate governance principles
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Nomination Committee

Principal Responsibilities

• Developing and regularly reviewing the policy on Board structure and membership;

• Ensuring there is an appropriate induction and orientation program in place;

• Making recommendations to the Board for Committee membership;

• Ensuring there is an appropriate Board succession plan in place;

• Undertake fit and proper assessments in accordance with the fit and proper policy.

Remuneration Committee

Principal Responsibilities

• Review the Remuneration Policy;

• Review the effectiveness and compliance of the Remuneration Policy with Prudential Standards

APS510;

• Make annual recommendations to the Board in respect of the remuneration of Directors, General

Manager and Senior Management.  

Coastline Community Foundation Committee

Principal Responsibilities

• Administer the operation of the Coastline Community Foundation; 

• Review the structure and guidelines of the Coastline Community Foundation; 

• Review and select Coastline Community Foundation grant recipients in line with the terms and

conditions of the Foundation.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Directors' Report

30 June 2011

Your Directors present their report on the Credit Union for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.

Directors

The names of the Directors in office at any time during, or since the end of, the year are:

A. Hudson 

B. Cooper

P. Hinchcliffe

J. Cavanagh

K. Wright 

M. Ryan

D. Bevan (Appointed 27 October 2010)

I. Browne (Resigned 27 October 2010)

Directors have been in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report unless
otherwise stated.

Company Secretary

The following person held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year:

Mr Peter Robert Townsend MBA, FAMI, FAICD, JP, Company Secretary and General Manager of
Coastline Credit Union since 1996. Mr Townsend is also a director of Indue (previously Creditlink) since
2001 and NCUA from 2002 to 2010 and was the Company Secretary and General Manager of Central
West Credit Union from 1988 - 1996.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Credit Union during the financial year was the provision of a complete range
of financial products and services to members.

There has been no significant change in the nature of this principal activity during the financial year.

Operating Results and Review of Performance

Financial Performance

The profit of the Credit Union after providing for income tax amounted to $1,523,000 for the financial
year ended 30 June 2011 (2010: $1,353,000). The financial performance was influenced by the following
factors:

Interest revenue increased by $4.2 million to $18.1 million. Interest expense increased by $3.6 million to
$11.4 million resulting in net interest income of $6.7 million.

Non-interest expenses increased by $0.3m to $6.5 million which can be attributed to an increase in bad
and doubtful debts of $0.14 million and employee benefits expense of $0.08 million.

7



Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Directors' Report

30 June 2011

Financial Position

Total assets increase by 8.2% to $272 million which reflects the confidence members have in Coastline.
Net assets increased by 7.1% for the year and loans and advances increased to $218 million a growth of
7.8% on the prior year. This growth was funded by increases in member deposits which increased by 7.8%
to $244 million. Total liquid assets held at year end was $48.4 million an increase of $4.7 million on the
previous year.

The Credit Union maintains a strong financial position with its liquidity ratio of 15.36% (2010: 17.11%)
and Capital Adequacy Ratio of 14.34% (2010: 15.67%) well above the Australian Prudential Regulation
Authority (APRA) and the Credit Union's own internal limits.

The Directors believe the Credit Union is in a sound financial position.

Dividends Recommended

The Directors do not recommend payment of a dividend.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Credit Union during the financial year.

After Balance Date Events

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or
may significantly affect the operations of the Credit Union, the results of those operations or the state of
affairs of the Credit Union in future financial years. 

Future Developments

The Directors are not aware of any likely developments that will materially affect the results of the Credit
Union's operations in future financial years.

Environmental Regulation

The Credit Union's operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulation under a law of
the Commonwealth or of a state or territory.

The Directors believe the Credit Union has adequate systems in place for the management of its
environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they
apply to the Credit Union.

Auditor's Independence Declaration

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 has been received and is included in these financial statements.

ASIC Class Order 98/100 Rounding of Amounts

The amounts contained in the financial statements and directors' report have been rounded to the nearest
thousand dollars under the option available to the Credit Union under ASIC Class Order 98/100. The
Credit Union is an entity to which the Class Order applies.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Directors' Report

30 June 2011

Indemnifying Officers or Auditors

During the financial year, a premium was paid in respect of a contract insuring Directors and Officers of
the Credit Union against liability. The officers of the Credit Union covered by the insurance contract
include the Directors, executive officers, secretary and employees.

In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of the total amount of premium payable under,
and the nature of liabilities covered by, the insurance contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in
the contract.

No insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of the auditors of the Credit Union.

Proceedings on Behalf of the Credit Union

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Credit Union or intervene
in any proceedings to which the Credit Union is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf
of the Credit Union for all or any part of those proceedings. The Credit Union was not a party to any such
proceedings during the year.

Meetings of Directors

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Credit Union's Directors (including meetings of
committees of Directors) held during the year ended 30 June 2011 and the number of meetings attended by
each Director.

Directors' Meetings Committee Meetings

Number eligible

to attend

Number

attended

Number eligible

to attend

Number

attended

A. Hudson 11 10 11 11

B. Cooper 11 10 22 21

P. Hinchcliffe 11 10 11 10

J. Cavanagh 11 10 12 10

K. Wright 11 11 7 7

M. Ryan 11 11 19 18

D. Bevan (Appointed 27/10/10) 8 7 12 11

I. Browne (Resigned 27/10/10) 3 2 6 3
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Directors' Report

30 June 2011

Information on Current Directors

A. Hudson Director, Chairman of Board of Directors, Executive
Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Occupation Secretary Manager

Experience Appointed 30 April 2007. Previously Deputy Chairman in
2010. Member Australasian Mutuals Institute.

Interest in Shares 1 Ordinary Share in the Credit Union.

Qualifications Associate Diploma - Business Accounting. F.FIN AIPA JP.

B.Cooper Director, Deputy Chairman of Board of Directors, Chairman
of Audit Committee, Loans Committee, Community
Foundation Committee, Executive Committee and
Remuneration Committee.

Occupation Retired Manager, JP.

Experience Chairman 2003 to 2010. Previously Chairman 1996 to 1999.
Vice Chairman 1992 to 1996, 1999 to 2002 and 2011. Board
Member since 1982. Fellow Australasian Mutuals Institute.

Interest in Shares 1 Ordinary Share in the Credit Union.

P. Hinchcliffe Director, Chairman of Coastline Community Foundation
Committee, Audit Committee.

Occupation Retired Manager / Fire Fighter.

Experience Board Member since 1999. Previously a Director for 6 years.
Australasian Mutuals Institute.

Interest in Shares 1 Ordinary Share in the Credit Union.

J. Cavanagh Director, Chairman of Loans Committee, Nominations
Committee.

Occupation Director, C.A. & C. Cavanagh Pty Ltd Kempsey.

Experience Board Member 1986 to May 1994 and re-elected in September
1994. Member Australasian Mutuals Institute.

Interest in Shares 1 Ordinary share in the Credit Union

K. Wright Director, Audit Committee.

Occupation Certified Practicising Accountant, Kel Wright & Co.

Experience Board Member since 1994. Member Australasian Mutuals
Institute.

Interest in Shares 1 Ordinary Share in the Credit Union.

Qualifications B. Bus, CPA, JP.
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Coastline Credit Union Limited

ABN 88 087 649 910

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011 

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Interest Revenue 2(a) 18,136 13,930

Interest Expense 2(b) (11,380) (7,741)

Net Interest Income 6,756 6,189

Other Income 2(c) 1,876 1,922

Net Operating Income 8,632 8,111

Non-Interest Expenses

Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense 2(d) (146) (4)

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 2(d) (366) (386)

Employee Benefits Expense 2(d) (2,696) (2,612)

Other expenses 2(d) (3,298) (3,242)

Total Non-Interest Expenses (6,506) (6,244)

Profit Before Income Tax Expense 2,126 1,867

Income tax expense 3 (603) (514)

Profit for the Year 1,523 1,353

Other Comprehensive Income 

Net gain on revaluation of land and buildings 42 -

Other Comprehensive Income for the Year 1,565 1,353

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year 1,565 1,353

Profit Attributable to Members of the Credit Union 1,523 1,353

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Members of
the Credit Union 1,565 1,353

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Audit Report
The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Coastline Credit Union Limited

ABN 88 087 649 910

Statement of Financial Position

As At 30 June 2011

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

ASSETS

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4 4,966 5,783

Receivables Due from Other Financial Institutions 5 43,410 37,910

Accrued Receivables 6 682 487

Loans and Advances 7 217,572 201,856

Other Financial Assets 9 914 798

Property, Plant and Equipment 10 3,544 2,767

Deferred Tax Assets 15 447 411

Intangible Assets 11 36 56

Other Assets 12 949 1,566

TOTAL ASSETS 272,520 251,634

LIABILITIES

Deposits from Members 13 243,566 225,862

Payables and Other Liabilities 14 4,402 2,797

Current Tax Liabilities 15 173 148

Deferred Tax Liabilities 15 2 -

Provisions 16 615 630

TOTAL LIABILITIES 248,758 229,437

NET ASSETS 23,762 22,197

EQUITY

Redeemed Share Capital Account 37 35

Reserves 17 2,819 1,985

Retained Profits 20,906 20,177

TOTAL EQUITY 23,762 22,197

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Audit Report
The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Coastline Credit Union Limited

ABN 88 087 649 910

Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

2011

Redeemed

Share

Capital

Account

000's

$

Retained

Earnings

000's

$

Asset

Revaluation

Reserve

000's

$

General

Reserve for

Credit

Losses

000's

$

Other

Reserve for

Credit Losses

000's

$

Total

000's

$

Balance at 1 July 2010 35 20,177 806 1,093 86 22,197

Profit attributable to
members of the Credit
Union - 1,523 - - - 1,523

Other comprehensive income - - 42 - - 42

Total comprehensive

income for the year - 1,523 42 - - 1,565

Redeemable withdrawable
shares 2 (2) - - - -

Transfers to / (from) reserves - (792) 401 97 294 -

Balance at 30 June 2011 37 20,906 1,249 1,190 380 23,762

2010

Redeemed

Share

Capital

Account

000's

$

Retained

Earnings

000's

$

Asset

Revaluation

Reserve

000's

$

General

Reserve for

Credit

Losses

000's

$

Other

Reserve for

Credit

Losses

000's

$

Total

000's

$

Balance at 1 July 2009 32 19,154 806 852 - 20,844

Profit attributable members
of the Credit Union - 1,353 - - - 1,353

Other comprehensive income - - - - - -

Total comprehensive

income for the year - 1,353 - - - 1,353

Redeemable withdrawable
shares 3 (3) - - - -

Transfers to / (from) reserves - (327) - 241 86 -

Balance at 30 June 2010 35 20,177 806 1,093 86 22,197

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Audit Report
The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Coastline Credit Union Limited

ABN 88 087 649 910

Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:

Interest received 17,930 13,768

Dividends received 124 92

Receipts from customers 2,670 3,037

Payments to suppliers and employees (4,972) (6,523)

Interest paid (11,140) (7,858)

Income tax paid (631) (296)

Net (increase) / decrease in loans, advances and other receivables (15,826) (19,058)

Net (increase) / decrease in receivables due from other financial
institutions (5,500) (12,000)

Net increase / (decrease) in deposits from members 17,705 30,309

Net Cash Flows from (used in) Operating Activities 18(a) 360 1,471

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 91 23

Acquisition of intangible assets (34) (8)

Net (increase) / decrease in other investments (116) (48)

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (1,118) (613)

Net Cash Flows from (used in) Investing Activities (1,177) (646)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash Held (817) 825

Cash at Beginning of Financial Year 5,783 4,958

Cash at End of Financial Year 4 4,966 5,783

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Audit Report
The accompanying notes form part of the financial statements
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

These financial statements cover Coastline Credit Union Limited as an individual entity. Coastline Credit
Union Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Note 1  Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of
the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions.
Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply
with International Financial Reporting Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified,
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Accounting Policies 

(a) Income Tax

The income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred tax
expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using
applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets)
are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during
the year as well as unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit
or loss when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets also result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available.
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability where there is no
effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at reporting
date. Their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying
amount of the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset
can be utilised.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other financial
institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings on the statement of financial position and are carried at the principal
amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand, deposits at call with banks and
other financial institutions, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(c) Receivables due from Other Financial Institutions

Receivables from other financial institutions are primarily interest bearing deposits due from banks and other
financial institutions with a carrying amount equal to their principal amount. Interest is brought to account in
the statement of comprehensive income when earned.

The accrual for interest receivable is calculated on a proportional basis on the expired period of the term of the
deposit. Interest receivable is included in the amount of accrued receivables in the statement of financial
position.

(d) Financial Instruments

Initial Recognition and Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the Credit Union becomes a party to the
contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the equivalent to the date that the Credit
Union commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (ie. trade date accounting).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs except where the instrument is
classified as at 'fair value through profit or loss' in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss
immediately.

      Classification and Subsequent Measurement 

Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to
determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as:

• the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;

• less principal repayments;

• plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially 
recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and

• less any reduction for impairment.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Financial Instruments (continued)

Initial Recognition and Measurement (continued)

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and
is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably
predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or
financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying
value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss when they are held for trading for the purpose
of short-term profit taking. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value
being included in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables comprise of loans and advances to members. Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

All loans are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and inclusive of loan origination
fees. Loan origination fees and direct and incremental transaction costs are initially deferred as part of the loan
balance, and are brought to account as income over the expected life of the loan. The amounts brought to
account are included in revenue.

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and it is the Credit Union's intention to hold these investments to maturity.  They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of being
classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature or they are designated as such by
management. They comprise investments in equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor
fixed or determinable payments. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are taken
directly to equity.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Financial Instruments (continued)

(v) Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

      Fair Value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm's length transactions and
reference to similar instruments.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union assesses whether there is objective evidence that a
financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged
decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment
losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Loan impairment

(i) Provision for impairment

Losses for impaired loans are recognised when there is objective evidence that the impairment of a loan has
occurred. Impairment losses are calculated on individual loans in arrears. Losses expected from potential future
losses are not recognised. The Credit Union determines the amount provided for doubtful debts based on the
probability of loan amounts not being collected in accordance with terms of the loan agreement. The key
judgments used to determine the specific provision for impairment are outlined in Note 8(d).

The Prudential Standards issued by APRA require a minimum provision to be based on specific percentages of
the loan balance, contingent upon the length of time the repayments are in arrears, and the security held.

(ii) General reserve for credit losses

In addition to the specific provision for impairment, the Credit Union has recognised the need to make an
allocation from retained earnings to ensure there is adequate protection for members against the prospect that
some members will experience loan repayment difficulties. The reserve, at a minimum, is based on 0.8% of
risk-weighted assets at each balance date (2010: 0.8%).

(iii) Bad debts

Bad debts are written off from time to time as determined by the Board of Directors and management when it is
reasonable to expect that the recovery of the debt is unlikely. If a provision for impairment has been recognised
in relation to a loan, write-offs for bad debts are made against the provision. If no provision for impairment has
previously been recognised, write-offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses in the statement of
comprehensive income.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Financial Instruments (continued)

Bad debts (continued)

The various components of impaired assets are as follows:

Non-accrual loans - are loans and advances where the recovery of all interest and principal is considered to be
reasonably doubtful, and hence provisions for impairment are recognised.

Restructured loans - arise when the borrower is granted a concession due to continuing difficulties in meeting
the original loan terms, and the revised terms are not comparable to new facilities. Loans with revised terms are
included in non-accrual loans when impairment provisions are required.

Assets acquired through the enforcement of security - are assets acquired in full or partial settlement of a loan
or similar facility through the enforcement of security arrangements.

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value as indicated less, where applicable,
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Property

Freehold land and buildings are shown at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction),  based on periodic, but at
least triennial, valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation
reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against fair value
reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the
asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of
the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net
cash flows that will be received from the assets' employment and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash
flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Credit Union
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful life to the Credit Union commencing
from the time the assets are held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of
either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset

Depreciation

Rate

Buildings and Improvements 2.5% - 20%

Leasehold Improvements 12.5% - 20%

Plant and Equipment                7% - 33.3%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These gains
and losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, amounts
included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

(f) Intangibles

Software

Items of computer software which are not integral to the computer hardware owned by the Credit Union are
classified as intangible assets. Computer software held as intangible assets is amortised over the expected
useful life of the software, which is generally determined to be 3 years.

(g) Impairment of Assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Credit Union reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value
in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Credit Union estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(h) Other Financial Assets

Investments in shares are classified as available-for-sale financial assets where they do not qualify for
classification as loans and receivables, or investments held for trading.

Shares in listed companies are valued by Directors at those shares' market value at the end of each reporting
period. The carrying amount of investments is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of
the recoverable amount of these investments. Unrealised gains or losses on listed shares are recognised directly
in equity except for impairment losses which are recognised in the income statement.

Investments in unlisted shares which do not have a ready market and are not capable of being reliably valued
are recorded at the lower of cost or recoverable amount. Investments in shares where no market value is readily
available are carried at cost less any provision for impairment.

Dividends are brought to account in the statement of comprehensive income when the right to receive the
dividend has been established.

Realised net gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets taken to the statement of comprehensive
income comprise only of gains and losses on disposal.

(i) Members' Deposits

Members' deposits are brought to account at the gross value of the outstanding balance. Interest on deposits is
brought to account on an accruals basis. Interest accrued at balance date is included in the amount of payables
and other liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(j) Payables and Other Liabilities

Liabilities for trade creditors and other payables are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration
to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Credit Union.

(k) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Credit Union's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by
employees to the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year,
together with benefits arising from wages and salaries and annual leave which will be settled after one year,
have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs.
Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows to be made for those benefits.

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to employee superannuation funds and are charged as expenses
when incurred.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(l) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Credit Union
and the revenue can be reliably measured.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

Fees and commissions

Control of a right to be compensated for services is attained and usually evidenced by approval of a contract by
the member. Fee and commission income is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

Interest

Control of a right to receive consideration for the provision of, or investment in, assets has been attained, and
usually evidenced by approval of a contract by the member. Interest income is taken into account on an accrual
basis. Interest on members' loans and overdrafts is calculated on the daily outstanding balance and is charged in
arrears to the members' loan accounts on the last day of each month.

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

(m) Leases

Leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but
not the legal ownership, are transferred to the Credit Union are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed
residual values. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest
expense for the period.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease
term.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables and payables in
the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included as an asset
or liability in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented in the statement  of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o) Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation for the current financial year.

(p) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Credit Union.

Key estimates - Impairment

The Credit Union assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions specific to
the Credit Union that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are
reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.

No impairment has been recognised in respect of assets at reporting date.

(q) New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandatory
application dates for future reporting periods. The  Credit Union has decided against early adoption of these
standards. A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the Credit Union is as  follows:

The Credit Union does not anticipate early adoption of any of the above reporting requirements and does not
expect these requirements to have any material effect on the Credit Union’s financial statements.

Title of Standard Future Reporting Requirements Operative Date

AASB 9: Financial Instruments and
AASB 2009-11: Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards

arising from AASB 9. 

These standards are applicable
retrospectively and amend the

classification and measurement of
financial assets. 

1 January 2013

 

AASB 124: Related Party Disclosures
(revised December 2009), AASB

2009-12 Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards.

 

This standard clarifies the definition of
a related party to remove

inconsistencies and simplify the
structure of the Standard. The changes
are not expected to materially affect the

Credit Union. 

1 January 2011

 

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2011.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 2 Profit Before Income Tax

(a) Analysis of Interest Revenue

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Cash and cash equivalents 135 152

Deposits with other financial institutions 2,567 1,341

Loans and advances 15,434 12,437

18,136 13,930

(b) Analysis of Interest Expense

Members' deposits 11,354 7,714

Borrowings 26 27

11,380 7,741

Net interest income 6,756 6,189

(c) Analysis of Non-Interest Revenue

Dividends received 124 92

Fees and commissions 1,719 1,791

Bad debts recovered 7 27

Profit / (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment 3 1

Rent received 23 11

Total non-interest revenue 1,876 1,922

Net Operating Income 8,632 8,111

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 2 Profit Before Income Tax (continued)

(d) Analysis of Non-Interest Expense

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Bad debts written off 12 3

Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment 134 1

146 4

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense

Buildings and improvements 63 40

Leasehold improvements 5 1

Plant and equipment 244 241

Intangible assets 54 104

366 386

Employee Benefits

Salaries and wages 1,826 1,738

Provision for employee benefits 227 246

Superannuation 383 365

Other 260 263

2,696 2,612

Other Operating Expenses

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 8

Impairment of shares in listed corporations - 1

Marketing and promotion 427 375

Member protection 243 236

General administration 419 411

ATM costs 652 672

Communications 597 586

Operating lease payments 196 291

Other occupancy costs 157 162

Loan administration fees 271 235

Other operating expenses 336 265

3,298 3,242

Total Non-Interest Expense 6,506 6,244

Profit before Income Tax 2,126 1,867

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 3  Income Tax Expense

(a) The income tax expense (revenue) comprises amounts set aside as:

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Current tax 656 537

Deferred tax relating to origination and reversal of
temporary differences (49) (3)

Prior period adjustments (4) (20)

603 514

(b) The prima facie tax on profit before income tax is reconciled to the income tax expense

(revenue) as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary
activities before income tax at 30% (2010: 30%)

  638 560

Add:

Tax effect of:

- non-deductible depreciation and amortisation 5 4

- other non-allowable items 1 -

644 564

Less:

Tax effect of:

- rebateable fully franked dividends 37 28

- overstatement of non-deductible depreciation in
prior years 4 20

- investment allowance - 2

41 50

Income tax attributable to the Credit Union 603 514

The applicable weighted average effective tax
rates are as follows: %28 %28

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 

28



Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 3 Income Tax Expense (continued)

(c) Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income

Before-tax

Amount

000's

$

2011

Tax

(Expense)

Benefit

000's

$

Net-of-tax

Amount

000's

$

Before-tax

Amount

000's

$

2010

Tax

(Expense)

Benefit

000's

$

Net-of-tax

Amount

000's

$

Gain on land and buildings
revaluation 59 (17) 42 - - -

59 (17) 42 - - -

Note 4  Cash and Cash Equivalents

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Cash on hand 2,308 2,596

Deposits at call 2,658 3,187

4,966 5,783

Reconciliation of Cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow
statement is reconciled to items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 4,966 5,783

4,966 5,783

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 5 Receivables due from from Other Financial Institutions

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Interest earning deposits 43,410 37,910

(a) Maturity Analysis

Not longer than 3 months 11,500 19,910

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 31,910 18,000

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years - -

Longer than 5 years - -

No maturity specified - -

43,410 37,910

Note 6  Accrued Receivables

Interest receivable 679 473

Other accrued income 3 14

682 487

Note 7  Loans and Advances

Overdrafts and line of credit loans 7,191 6,450

Term loans 210,838 195,751

Gross loans and advances 218,029 202,201

Less: Unamortised loan origination fees (323) (267)

Gross loans and advances net of unamortised loan origination
fees 217,706 201,934

Less: Provision for impairment 8 (134) (78)

Net loans and advances 217,572 201,856

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 

30



Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 7 Loans and Advances (continued)

(a) Maturity Analysis

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Overdrafts and revolving credit 7,166 6,424

Not longer than 3 months 3,493 3,703

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 11,088 9,490

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 43,743 43,808

Longer than 5 years 152,082 138,431

217,572 201,856

(b) Concentration of Loans

Details of concentrations of credit risk to individual members
(including associated members) greater than 10% of capital
are contained in Note 24(b)

Loans to members are concentrated solely in Australia and
principally in the following region: 

New South Wales 207,760 195,526

Other states 9,812 6,330

217,572 201,856

(c) Security Analysis

Secured by mortgage over business assets 6,183 5,426

Secured by mortgage over real estate 201,213 170,947

Partly secured by goods mortgage 5,652 5,287

Wholly unsecured 4,524 20,196

217,572 201,856

It is not practicable to value all collateral as at the end of the reporting period due to the variety of assets
and conditions present.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 8       Impairment of Loans and Advances

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Provision for impairment 134 78

(a) Movement in provision

Balance at beginning of year 78 84

Transfer from / (to) Statement of Comprehensive
Income 133 1

Bad debts written off against provision (77) (7)

Provision balance at end of year 134 78

(b) The provision consists of:

Prescribed provision required under the APRA Prudential Standards 514 152

Addition / (reduction) to specific provision (380) (74)

Total 134 78

(c) Impaired loans written off

Amounts written off against the provision for impaired loans 78 7

Amounts written off directly to statement of comprehensive
income 12 3

90 10

Bad debts recovered in period 7 27

(d) Key assumptions in determining the provision for impairment

In the course of the preparation of the financial statements the Credit Union has determined the likely
impairment loss on loans which have not maintained the loan repayments in accordance with the loan
contract, or where there is other evidence of potential impairment such as economic circumstances. In
identifying the impairment likely from these events the Credit Union is required to estimate the potential
impairment using the length of time the loan is in arrears and the historical losses arising in past years.
Given the relatively small number of impaired loans, the circumstances may vary for each loan over time
resulting in higher or lower impairment losses. An estimate is based on the period of impairment.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 8 Impairment of Loans and Advances (continued)

(d) Key assumptions in determining the provision for impairment (continued)

      Period of Impairment % of Balance 

   Up to 90 days   0
    91 days to 181 days  40

   182 days to 270 days  60
   271 days to 365 days  80
   Over 365 days 100

In addition, a review of loans was undertaken to identify specific loans where an additional amount to that
calculated under the method above is required.

The amount of impairment loss on the specific loans was measured as the difference between the carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate. The value of security was considered as part of this process including an
assessment of the relevance of the existing valuation in current market conditions.

(e) Analysis of impaired loans by class
Carrying

Value

Impaired

Loans

Provision for

Impairment

2011

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

Loans

Housing - owner occupied 152,462 353 108

Housing - investment 34,603 - -

Personal 7,772 5 2

Revolving credit 5,242 32 24

Commercial 17,950 - -

Total 218,029 390 134

2010

Loans

Housing - owner occupied 138,651 340 51

Housing - investment 27,104 - -

Personal 6,325 - -

Revolving credit 4,807 48 27

Commercial 25,314 - -

Total 202,201 388 78

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 8 Impairment of Loans and Advances (continued)

Loans and advances may be unsecured, secured against residential property, or secured by bill of sale over
motor vehicles or other assets of varying values. It is not practicable to determine the fair value of all collateral
as at balance date due to the variety of assets and conditions.

(f) Analysis of impaired loans by age of repayments outstanding

2011

Impaired

Loans

2011

Provision for

Impairment

2010

Impaired 
Loans

2010

Provision for
Impairment

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

Up to 90 days in arrears - - 301 12

91 to 180 days in arrears 5 2 - -

181 to 270 days in arrears - - - -

271 to 365 days in arrears - - - -

Over 365 days in arrears 353 108 39 39

Over limit facilities 14 days and over 32 24 48 27

Total 390 134 388 78

Loans and advances may be unsecured, secured against residential property, or secured by bill of sale over
motor vehicles or other assets of varying values. It is not practicable to determine the fair value of all collateral
as at balance date due to the variety of assets and conditions.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 8 Impairment of Loans and Advances (continued)

(g) Loans with repayments past due but not impaired
Housing

Loans

(owner 

occupied)

Housing

Loans

(Investment)

Personal

Loans

Revolving

Credit Commercial Total

2011

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

Days in arrears:

Less than 3 months 3,052 388 174 219 200 4,033

3 to 6 months 438 - - - - 438

6 to 12 months - - - - 228 228

Greater than 12 months 57 - - - - 57

Total 3,547 388 174 219 428 4,756

2010

Days in arrears:

Less than 3 months 2,828 188 69 132 305 3,522

3 to 6 months 103 - - - - 103

6 to 12 months 300 - - - 302 602

Greater than 12 months - - - - - -

Total 3,231 188 69 132 607 4,227

(h) Assets acquired via enforcement of security

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Real estate - -

Other - -

- -

The Credit Union did not obtain any financial or non-financial assets during the period by taking possession of
collateral it holds as security or calling on other credit enhancements (e.g. guarantees). In the event that the
Credit Union takes possession of an asset that is not readily convertible to cash, the Credit Union may sell the
asset at auction or by private treaty with the objective of obtaining maximum value. The Credit Union also has
discretion to retain the asset for its use in operations.
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Note 8 Impairment of Loans and Advances (continued)

(i) Renegotiated loans not impaired

Renegotiated loans arise when the borrower is granted a concession due to continual difficulties in meeting the
original terms and the revised terms are not comparable to new or existing loan facilities.

There were no loans that were previously past due or impaired which had been renegotiated by the Credit
Union as at 30 June 2011 (2009: Nil).

(j) Revenue on impaired loans

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Interest and other revenue recognised as revenue earned 31 35

Interest foregone on impaired loans 51 19

Note 9   Other Financial Assets

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise:

Shares in listed corporations at market value:

IAG 9(a) 1 1

Robe Australia Limited 9(b) 2 2

Total shares in listed corporations at market value 3 3

Shares in ADI's at Cost

Indue Limited 9(c) 626 510

Total shares in ADI's at cost 626 510

Other investments at cost

Indue Limited: Perpetual Subordinated Debt 9(c) 214 214

Indue Limited: Sub Deferred Deposits 9(c) 71 71

285 285

Total available-for-sale financial assets 914 798

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 

36



Coastline Credit Union Limited 

ABN 88 087 649 910

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

Note 9 Other Financial Assets (continued)

Disclosures on available-for-sale financial assets

(a) IAG - Insurance Australia Group Ltd

The Credit Union was allocated shares through the demutualisation of NRMA Insurance Group Limited. These
shares were acquired at no cost and are valued in the accounts of the Credit Union at market value.

Insurance Australia Group Ltd shares are included within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy which uses quoted
prices in active markets.

(b) Robe Australia Limited (previously Tolhurst)

The Credit Union was allotted shares in Tolhurst Ltd when that company acquired ComCorp in accordance
with a share Purchase Agreement dated 18 October 2007. Upon completion of the Share Purchase Agreement
the Credit Union was allotted 156,138 shares in Tolhurst Ltd and granted deferred share rights subject to
adjustments. 

Tolhurst Limited changed its name to Robe Australia Limited in 2008. The Credit Union was allotted a further
47,340 shares in Robe Australia at a cost base of $0.50 and no further shares are expected to be issued as a
result of the Share Purchase Agreement. Robe Australia Limited has since sold the ComCorp business to MMC
Contrarian Limited on 9 April 2009.

 Robe Australia Limited shares are included within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy which uses quoted prices
in active markets.

(c) Indue Limited

The shareholding in Indue Limited is measured at cost as its fair value could not be measured reliably. This
company was created to supply services to member credit unions and does not have an independent business
focus. These shares are held to enable the Credit Union to receive essential banking services. The shares are not
able to be publicly traded and are not redeemable.

The financial statements of Indue Ltd record net tangible asset backing of these shares exceeding their cost.
Based on the net assets of Indue Ltd any fair value determination on these shares is likely to be greater than
their cost value, but due to the nature of services supplied a market value is not able to be determined readily.

The Credit Union is not intending, nor is able to dispose of these shares as the services supplied by the
company are relevant to the day to day activities of the Credit Union.

The Perpetual subordinated debt with Indue Limited is a debt instrument upon which the Credit Union earns a
return of the 90 day bank bill rate plus 175 basis points. It is perpetual in nature and not able to be traded and is
not redeemable.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 10        Property, Plant and Equipment

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Land and Buildings

Freehold land

At independent valuation 10(a) 830 660

At cost 413 -

1,243 660

Buildings

At independent valuation 10(a) 1,050 1,265

Building improvements at cost 749 353

Accumulated depreciation (35) (76)

1,764 1,542

Leasehold Improvements

At cost 390 360

Accumulated depreciation (361) (357)

29 3

Total land and buildings 3,036 2,205

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,936 2,092

Accumulated depreciation (1,428) (1,530)

Total plant and equipment 508 562

Total property, plant and equipment 3,544 2,767

(a) Valuations

An independent valuation of freehold land and buildings was carried out by Tim Needs (Registered Valuer
2279). The revaluation of freehold land and buildings was based on an assessment of the current market values
of the Credit Union’s South West Rocks premises as at 13 May 2011 and the Credit Union's West Kempsey
premises as at 11 May 2011.

All valuations are estimates of the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable
willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation dates.  The
Credit Union has a policy to regularly revalue land and buildings every three years.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 10Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

(b) Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movement in the carrying amount for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and
the end of the current financial year:

Land

000's

$

Buildings

000's

$

Leasehold

Improvements

000's

$

Plant and

Equipment

000's

$

Total

000's

$

2011

Balance at the beginning of
year 660 1,542 3 562 2,767

Additions 413 397 31 280 1,121

Disposals - written down value - - - (90) (90)

Depreciation expense - (63) (5) (244) (312)

Revaluation decrement - (112) - - (112)

Revaluation increment 170 - - - 170

Carrying amount at the end of
the financial year 1,243 1,764 29 508 3,544

2010

Balance at the beginning of
year 660 1,229 2 574 2,465

Additions - 353 4 258 615

Disposals - written down value - - (2) (29) (31)

Depreciation expense - (40) (1) (241) (282)

Carrying amount at the end of
the financial year 660 1,542 3 562 2,767

(c) Historical Cost of Land and Buildings

If land and buildings were stated at historical cost, amounts would be as follows:

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Land - at cost 509 96

Buildings - at cost 1,767 1,377

Provision for depreciation on buildings (491) (447)

Total land and buildings at written down value 1,785 1,026

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 11       Intangible assets

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Software - at cost 593 559

Accumulated amortisation (557) (503)

Net carrying value 36 56

(a) Movement in carrying amount

Balance at beginning of year 56 153

Additions 34 7

Disposals - -

Amortisation 2(d) (54) (104)

   Balance at end of year 36 56

Intangible assets have a finite useful life. The current amortisation charges for intangible assets are
included under depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement.

Note 12       Other Assets

Prepayments 43 16

Sundry debtors 906 1,550

949 1,566

Note 13       Deposits from Members

Member deposits at call (including withdrawable shares) 135,268 123,485

Member term deposits 108,298 102,377

243,566 225,862

The deposit portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any deposit which represents 10% or more of
total liabilities. The Credit Union has an exposure to groupings of individual deposits which concentrate
risk and create exposure to particular segments as follows:

Concentration of deposits

New South Wales residents 236,356 220,951

Other depositors 7,210 4,911

243,566 225,862

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 14 Payables and Other Liabilities

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Accrued interest payable 1,466 1,226

Other creditors and accruals 2,936 1,571

4,402 2,797

Note 15       Taxation

(a)Current tax liabilities

Income tax payable / (refundable) 173 148

(b)Deferred Tax Liability

Opening

Balance

000's

$

Charged to

Income

000's

$

Charged

directly to

Equity

000's

$

Changes in

Tax Rate

000's

$

Closing

Balance

000's

$

Deferred Tax Liabilities

Prepayments 10 (10) - - -

Balance at 30 June 2010 10 (10) - - -

Prepayments - 2 - - 2

Balance at 30 June 2011 - 2 - - 2

The Credit Union has incurred prior year tax losses of $63,992 (capital losses) (2010: $63,992) that have not
been recognised as a deferred tax asset. The capital losses are carried forward and may be realised in the future
to the extent that the Credit Union can offset future taxable gains.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(c) Deferred Tax Assets

Opening

Balance

000's

$

Charged to

Income

000's

$

Charged

directly to

Equity

000's

$

Changes in

Tax Rate

000's

$

Closing

Balance

000's

$

Deferred Tax Assets

Plant 11 14 - - 25

Employee entitlements 212 (23) - - 189

Impairment of loans 25 (2) - - 23

Accrued expenses 31 2 - - 33

Accrued income 2 2 - - 4

Deferred loan origination fees 60 20 - - 80

Shares 29 1 - - 30

Land and buildings 28 (1) - - 27

Balance at 30 June 2010 398 13 - - 411

Plant 25 13 - - 38

Employee entitlements 189 (5) - - 184

Impairment of loans 23 17 - - 40

Accrued expenses 33 4 - - 37

Accrued income 4 (3) - - 1

Deferred loan origination fees 80 17 - - 97

Shares 30 - - - 30

Land and buildings 27 71 (78) - 20

Balance at 30 June 2011 411 114 (78) - 447

Note 16       Provisions

Note

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Employee entitlements 20 504 510

Directors' retirement benefits 16(b) 62 75

Other provisions 49 45

615 630

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 16 Provisions (continued)

(a) Movements in carrying amounts

Employee

Entitlements

Directors'

Retirement

Benefits

Other

Provisions Total

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

000's

$

Balance at the beginning of the year 510 75 45 630

Additional provision 224 2 49 275

Amounts used during the year (230) (15) (45) (290)

Carrying amount at the end of the

year 504 62 49 615

(b) Provision for Directors' Retirement Benefits

The provision for Directors' Retirement Benefits is in accordance with the Credit Union's Directors' Retirement
Benefits Policy. This policy has been established as a framework within which Coastline Directors may become
eligible to receive financial benefits upon their retirement or death as a Director. Eligibility for the receipt of
any benefits is strictly subject to the limitations, qualification criteria and approval procedures set out in the
Directors' Retirement Benefits Policy.

Note 17 Reserves

(a) Asset Revaluation Reserve

The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of land and buildings and available-for-sale financial
assets.

(b) General reserve for credit losses

This reserve records an amount previously set aside as a general provision for impairment on loans and is
maintained to comply with the Credit Union's policies.

(c) Other reserve for credit losses

The other reserve for credit losses records the balance of the specific provision for impairment prescribed
by APRA that is in excess of the provision for impairment determined in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 18   Cash Flow Information

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with Profit after Income Tax

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Profit for the year 1,523 1,353

Non-cash flows in profit

Provision for impairment 55 (6)

Movement in unamortised loan origination fees 56 69

Depreciation and amortisation 366 386

Net (gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment (3) 8

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) / decrease in receivables due from other
financial institutions (5,500) (12,000)

(Increase) / decrease in accrued receivables (195) (167)

(Increase) / decrease in loans and advances to members (15,826) (19,058)

(Increase) / decrease in deferred tax assets (54) (13)

(Increase) / decrease in other assets 617 1,083

Increase / (decrease) in deposits from members 17,705 30,309

Increase / (decrease) in payables and other liabilities 1,605 (623)

Increase / (decrease) in current tax liabilities 25 218

Increase / (decrease) in deferred tax liabilities 2 (10)

Increase / (decrease) in provisions (16) (78)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  360 1,471

(b) Cash flows presented on a net basis

Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Cash Flow
Statement:

(i)  customer deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts

(ii)  borrowings and repayments on loans and advances;

(iii) sales and purchases of maturing certificates of deposit; and

(iv) sales and purchases of other investments.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 18Cash Flow Information (continued)

(c) Credit Standby Arrangements

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Overdraft facility 5,000 5,000

Amount utilised - -

5,000 5,000

The Credit Union has a $5,000,000 stand-by facility with Trinity Mortgage Origination Trust No 1.
The total amount of the facility was available to be utilised by the Credit Union at 30 June 2011.

Note 19   Capital and Leasing Commitments

(a) Capital Expenditure Commitments

Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for:

- payable not later than 12 months - 837

- payable between 12 months and 5 years - -

- payable greater than 5 years - -

- 837

(b) Operating Lease Commitments

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements:

Operating lease payments for the lease of the Credit Union's
premises are payable over the following periods:

- not later than 12 months 192 170

- between 12 months and 5 years 511 112

- later than 5 years - -

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance date 703 282

The building and ATM accommodation leases are non-cancellable leases with original terms ranging
from 5 - 10 years. Rent is payable monthly in advance. Contingent rental provisions within the lease
agreements require the minimum lease payment to be increased by either the CPI or 5% per annum.
An option exists to renew the leases at the end of the lease terms for additional terms of 5  - 10
years.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 20   Employee Entitlements and Superannuation Commitments

Superannuation Commitments

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as expenses
when incurred. The Credit Union has no legal obligation to cover any shortfall in the fund's obligation to
provide benefits to employees on retirement.

Defined Benefits Plan

The Credit Union contributes to the CUE Super Plan for the purpose of Superannuation Guarantee payments
and payment of other superannuation benefits on behalf of its employees. Cue Super merged with NGS Super
on 1 April 2011.

The CUE Super Plan is a multi-employer Defined Benefits Plan and is administered by an independent
corporate trustee.

The Credit Union is unable to account for the Plan in accordance with AASB 119: Employee Benefits as
sufficient reliable information is not available. The Credit Union as a participating employer may be exposed to
the actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of other employers, with the result that
there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligations, assets and costs to the Credit Union.

There is no segregation of assets between defined benefit employers within the CUE Super Plan. As a result,
actuarial risks associated with the provision of the guarantee, and the subsequent actuarial gains and losses
from the plan's experience, are shared between employers. Contribution rates for each employer do not vary
according to the experience related to the employer's members in the scheme.

The Trustees of the CUE Super Plan obtained an actuarial certificate dated 11 May 2009 which certifies the
plans solvency as at 19 May 2009.

The actuarial certificate determined the net realisable value of the assets of the plan as $288,748,843 as at 30
June 2008. The present value of the accrued member benefits was $281,626,731 resulting in a surplus of funds
in the plan of $7,122,112. In calculating this value, the actuary has complied with Guidance Note 454 of the
Institute of Actuaries of Australia.

The actuary used the 'Aggregate Cost' funding method supplemented by a projection modelling approach in
determining the above values. Under the 'Aggregate Cost' method contributions are set at a rate which together
with existing assets, future member contributions and investment income is expected to be sufficient to meet
future benefits and expenses for existing plan members if the assumptions are borne out in practice. The
calculated contribution rates are adjusted as appropriate, based on projection scenarios to ensure that the plan's
financing objectives are met. The valuation disclosed that the plan was in a satisfactory financial condition at
30 June 2008.

The Credit Union's contribution rate to the plan remains unchanged. 

The next actuarial certificate for the year ended 30 June 2011 was unavailable at the time of preparation of the
financial statements due to the merger between Cue Super and NGS Super.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 21   Contingent Liabilities and Credit Commitments

In the normal course of business the Credit Union enters into various types of contracts that give rise to
contingent or future obligations. These contracts generally relate to the financing needs of members. The Credit
Union uses the same credit policies and assessment criteria in making commitments and conditional obligations
for off-balance sheet risks as it does for on-balance sheet loan assets. The Credit Union holds collateral
supporting these commitments where it is deemed necessary.

(a) Contingent liabilities

(i) Guarantees

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Security deposits

The Credit Union holds security deposits of certain members as a
guarantee for a third party. These deposits are not released to the
member without written authority from the third party. 157 36

(ii) Credit Union Financial Support System

On 1 July 2011 the Credit Union became a participant in the Credit Union Financial Support System
(CUFSS). The purpose of CUFSS is to protect the interests of Credit Union members, increase stability in
the industry and provide liquidity in excess of current borrowing limits in times of need.

An Industry Support Contract made on the 1 July 2011 between the Credit Union and Credit Union
Financial Support System Limited and participating credit unions required the Credit Union to execute an
equitable charge in favour of CUFSS. The charge is a floating charge over the assets and undertakings of
the Credit Union and secures any advances that may be made to the CUFSS under the scheme.

(iii) Indue Limited

Indue Limited hold a fixed and floating charge over the assets of the Credit Union in relation to the
banking services provided to the Credit Union.

(b) Credit related commitments

Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no
violation of any condition established in the contract. Since many of the commitments are expected to
expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements.

Approved but undrawn loans and credit limits 19,694 18,050

Loans approved but not advanced 2,217 1,799

21,911 19,849

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 22   Disclosures on Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Credit Union, directly or indirectly, including any Director
(whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

(a) Directors

During the financial year the following Directors held office:

Directors

A. Hudson  (Chairman)

B. Cooper (Deputy Chairman)

P. Hinchcliffe  

J. Cavanagh

K. Wright 

M. Ryan

D. Bevan (Appointed 27 October 2010)

I. Browne (Resigned 27 October 2010)

(b) Other key management personnel

The following persons also had responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
Credit Union, directly or indirectly during the financial year:

      Name Position

     P. Townsend General Manager

     J. Thorman Member Services Manager

     D. Ryan Lending Manager

     A. Chapman Information Technology Manager

     L. Longstaff Financial Controller (Appointed 18 October 2010)

         R. Wallace Financial Controller (Resigned 16 July 2010)

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 22Disclosures on Key Management Personnel (continued)

(c) Key management personnel compensation

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel during the year comprising amounts paid or
payable or provided for was as follows:

Short-term

benefits

$

Post

employment

benefit

$

Other long-

term

benefits

$

Termination

benefits

$

Share-

based

payment

$

Total

$

2011

Directors 120,965 37,420 - 15,073 - 173,458

Other KMP 800,181 100,019 4,403 - - 904,603

921,146 137,439 4,403 15,073 - 1,078,061

2010

Directors 78,233 51,901 - 28,710 - 158,844

Other KMP 625,150 84,574 13,627 - - 723,351

703,383 136,475 13,627 28,710 - 882,195

In the above table, remuneration shown as short term employee benefits means (where applicable) wages,
salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, bonuses and the value of fringe benefits received, but excludes
out of pocket expense reimbursements. Other long-term benefits includes long service leave and retirement
benefits.

A provision for Directors' Retirement Benefits calculated in accordance with the Credit Union's Directors'
Retirement Benefits Policy is included under termination benefits in the above table.

All remuneration of Directors with the exception of the provision for Directors' Retirement Benefits was
approved by the members at the previous Annual General Meeting of the Credit Union.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 22Disclosures on Key Management Personnel (continued)

(d) Loans to Directors and Other Key Management Personnel

The following details of loans are inclusive of loans to Directors, other KMP and close family
members of Directors and other KMP:

Balance at

beginning of

year

$

Interest

charged

$

Balance at

end of year

$

Impaired

amount

$

2011

Term loans 2,019,905 127,980 1,760,149 -

Revolving credit loans 170,271 12,983 189,274 -

Total Loans 2,190,176 140,963 1,949,423 -

2010

Term loans 2,484,184 111,735 2,019,905 -

Revolving credit loans 214,941 11,790 170,271 -

Total Loans 2,699,125 123,525 2,190,176 -

2011

$

2010

$

Aggregate value of revolving credit facilities to Directors and
other KMP, as at balance date 327,577 346,577

Less: amounts drawn-down (189,274) (170,271)

Net balance available 138,303 176,306

Directors and other KMP concerned with the above balances at balance date were:

A. Hudson, B. Cooper, K. Wright, J. Cavanagh, P. Hinchcliffe, D. Bevan, I. Browne, P. Townsend, J. Thorman,
D. Ryan and A. Chapman.

The Credit Union's policy for lending to Directors and other key management personnel is that all loans are
approved and deposits accepted on the same terms and conditions which applied to members for each class of
loan or deposit.

All loans disbursed to Directors and other KMP were approved on the same terms and conditions which are
applicable to members for each class of loan, with the exceptions of those KMP who are not Directors. There
are no loans which are impaired in relation to the loan balances with Directors and KMP.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 22Disclosures on Key Management Personnel (continued)

KMP who are not Directors receive a concessional rate of interest on their loans and facilities. These benefits,
where subject to fringe benefits tax are included in the remuneration in Note 22(c). There are no benefits or
concessional terms and conditions applicable to the close family members of KMP. There are no loans which
are impaired in relation to the loan balances with close family relatives of Directors and other KMP.

(e) Other Transactions with Related Parties

The Credit Union has received deposits from Directors and other KMP and their related entities. These
amounts were received on the same terms and conditions as are applicable to members generally and are trivial
or domestic in nature.

Directors and other KMP have received interest on these deposits with the Credit Union during the financial
year. Interest has been paid on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available on similar
transactions to members of the Credit Union. There are no service contracts to which Directors, KMP or their
close family members are an interested party except as detailed below. Other transactions with Directors and
director-related entities are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties.

Other transactions with director-related entities

2011

$

2010

$

Freight charges paid to C.A. & C. Cavanagh Pty Ltd, a company in
which Credit Union Director J. Cavanagh is a director and 
shareholder. 1,524 1,590

Note 23   Auditor's Remuneration

Audit Services: 

- Audit of the financial statements 38,500 37,200

- Other regulatory audit services 9,300 9,000

 47,800 46,200

Other Services:

- Internal audit services 32,400 29,800

- Taxation services 5,600 5,500

- Other assurance services 9,850 14,980

 47,850 50,280

 95,650 96,480
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Note 24 Risk Management and Financial instruments

The Credit Union has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

− Credit Risk;

− Liquidity Risk;

− Market Risk;

− Capital Risk; and

− Operational Risk.

The Credit Union has implemented the following strategies to measure and manage these risks.

(a) RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Credit Union's
risk management framework. The Board approves the level of risk which the Credit Union is exposed to and the
framework for reporting and mitigating those risks. The Board of Directors is responsible for developing and
monitoring the Credit Union's risk management policies.

The Board of Directors has established the Audit Committee which is responsible for developing and
monitoring the Credit Union's risk management policies. The Committee is comprised of the Chairman and
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors and other non-executive Directors and reports to the Board of
Directors on its activities.

The Credit Union's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Credit Union, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed on at least an annual basis.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Credit Union's risk management
policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the
risks faced by the Credit Union. The Audit Committee is assisted in these functions by the General Manager.

The General Manager has responsibility for the oversight of the Credit Union's risk management framework
and policies, including the identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment and monitoring of risk at all levels of
the Credit Union.

The Board of Directors have also appointed an Internal Auditor to assess whether the controls implemented for
risk management are operating effectively. The Internal Auditor provides reports on risk management
compliance to the Board of Directors and Audit Committee on a regular basis.

(b) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Credit Union should a member or counterparty to the financial
instrument fail to meet their contractual obligations. Credit risk arises principally from the Credit Union's loans
and advances to members, deposits with other authorised deposit-taking institutions and investments in
available-for-sale assets.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 24Risk Management and Financial instruments (continued)

(b) CREDIT RISK (continued)

Management of Credit Risk 

Loans and Advances 

The credit risk associated with loans and advances to members has been minimised through the implementation
of credit assessment policies and procedures before these loans and advances are approved. Loans in default are
also reviewed on a regular basis.

The Credit Union's policies govern:

− Credit assessment and approval of loans and facilities;

− Security requirements in respect to the acceptable types of security and maximum loan to security value

ratios;

− Limiting concentrations of exposures to individual borrowers, industry groups and geographic

locations;

− Reassessment of and review of credit exposures and facilities;

− Establishment of appropriate provisions to recognise the impairment of loans and advances;

− Debt recovery procedures; and

− Regular review of compliance with credit risk policies.

Receivables due from Other Financial Institutions 

Credit risk with other financial institutions has been minimised through the implementation of investment
policies, which include the types of acceptable investments and limitations on concentrations of deposits. The
Credit Union's Finance Department is responsible for managing and monitoring compliance with these policies
and limits.

Exposure to Credit Risk 

The Credit Union’s maximum credit risk exposure, without taking into account the value of any collateral or
other security held, in the event other parties fail to perform their obligations under financial instruments in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the
statement of financial position.

Impaired Loans 

Impaired loans are loans for which the Credit Union determines that it is probable that it will be unable to
collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.

Loans Past Due but not Impaired 

Loans that are past due but not impaired include loans where contractual interest or principal payments are past
due but the Credit Union believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security or
collateral available and the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Credit Union.

Restructured Loans 

Restructured loans have renegotiated terms due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position and where
the Credit Union has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once the loan is restructured it
remains in this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(b) CREDIT RISK (continued)

Allowance for Impairment 

The Credit Union establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of incurred losses
in its loan portfolio. The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to
individually significant exposures subject to individual assessment for impairment, and a collective loan loss
allowance established for groups of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have
not been identified on loans that are not subject to individual assessment for impairment.

Write-Off Policy 

The Credit Union writes off a loan balance (and any related allowances for impairment losses) when the loan
has been determined to be uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as
the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer
pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.

Collateral Securing Loans 

The Credit Union holds collateral against loans and advances to members in the form of mortgage interests over
property, other registered securities over assets and guarantees. Mortgage insurance contracts are entered into
in order to manage the credit risk around the residential loan mortgage portfolio. Estimates of fair value are
based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a
loan is individually assessed as impaired. Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to other
ADI's and available for sale investments.

Concentration of Credit Risk 

The Credit Union minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to loans by undertaking transactions with a
large number of members. Credit risk is currently managed in accordance with the Prudential Standards to
reduce the Credit Union’s exposure to potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the
contract or arrangement.

Concentrations of credit risk arise in the following categories:

Loans and advances to

members

Receivables due

from other Financial

Institutions

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

New South Wales 207,759 195,526 1,000 4,000

Other States and Territories 9,813 6,330 42,410 33,910

217,572 201,856 43,410 37,910

Concentration by location for loans and advances to members is measured based on the location of the
borrower. Concentration by location for receivables due from other financial institutions is measured based on
the location of the counterparty.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Note 24Risk Management and Financial instruments (continued)

(b) CREDIT RISK (continued)

Concentration of risk on loans to individual members (including associated members) greater than 10% of
capital are detailed below. These concentrations of credit risk on loans to individual members relate to
investment properties and the property development industry.

2011 2010

Number of Loans 1 2

Outstanding Balance ($) 2,272,859 5,217,342

(c) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations arising from its
financial liabilities.

Management of Liquidity Risk 

The Credit Union's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Credit Union's reputation.

The Credit Union's policies and procedures for managing liquidity include:

− Daily monitoring of liquidity position with regards to internal and regulatory limits;

− Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities; and

− Maintaining adequate reserves, liquidity support facilities and reserve borrowing facilities.

Exposure to Liquidity Risk

The key measure used by the Credit Union for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of liquid assets to total
adjusted liabilities. The Credit Union's regulator, APRA, has set a minimum ratio of at least 9% of liquid assets
to total liabilities. The Credit Union's minimum internal liquidity ratio is 12% (2010: 11%).

Details of the Credit Union's ratio of liquid assets to total adjusted liabilities at the reporting date and during the
reporting period were as follows:

Liquidity Ratios 

2011

%

2010

%

As at 30 June 15.36 17.11

Average liquidity for the period 17.38 14.14

Minimum liquidity for the period 14.22 11.13

Maximum liquidity for the period 19.30 18.53

Financial Instrument Composition and Maturity Analysis

The following tables detail the Credit Union's expected and remaining contractual maturities for its financial
assets and financial liabilities. The balance for financial assets is based on the undiscounted maturities
including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the Credit Union anticipates that the cash
flow will occur in a different period. The balance of financial liabilities is based on the undiscounted cash
flows at the earliest date on which the Credit Union can be required to pay. The amounts include both interest
and principal cash flows

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities

At call

Not longer than 3

months

Longer than 3 and not

longer than 12 months

Longer than 1 and not

longer than 5 years Longer than 5 years No Maturity Total

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Financial assets - cash

flows realisable

Cash and cash equivalents 4,966 5,783 - - - - - - - - - - 4,966 5,783

Receivables due from
other financial
institutions - - 11,500 19,910 31,910 18,000 - - - - - - 43,410 37,910

Accrued receivables - - 425 330 254 143 - - - - 3 14 682 487

Loans and advances 7,166 6,424 3,493 3,703 11,088 9,490 43,743 43,808 152,082 138,431 - - 217,572 201,856

Other financial assets - - - - - - - - - - 914 798 914 798

Total anticipated inflows 12,132 12,207 15,418 23,943 43,252 27,633 43,743 43,808 152,082 138,431 917 812 267,544 246,834

Financial liabilities due

for payment

Deposits from members 135,268 123,485 52,563 46,401 53,107 29,241 2,628 26,735 - - - - 243,566 225,862

Payables and other
liabilities - - - - - - - - - - 4,211 2,797 4,211 2,797

Total anticipated

outflows 135,268 123,485 52,563 46,401 53,107 29,241 2,628 26,735 - - 4,211 2,797 247,777 228,659

Net inflow / (outflow) on

financial instruments (123,136) (111,278) (37,145) (22,458) (9,855) (1,608) 41,115 17,073 152,082 138,431 (3,294) (1,985) 19,767 18,175

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(d) MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates or other
prices, will affect the Credit Union's income or the value of its financial assets and financial liabilities. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits.

The Credit Union does not trade in financial instruments, and is not exposed to currency or other significant
price risks.

The Credit Union is only exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in market interest rates.

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the variability of the fair value of future cash flows arising from financial instruments due to
changes in interest rates.

Management of Interest Rate Risk 

The Credit Union has exposure to non-traded interest rate risk generated by banking products such as loans and
deposits. The Credit Union does not operate a trading book.

Overall authority for market risk is vested with the Board of Directors, who are responsible for the development
of detailed risk management  policies.

Exposure to Interest Rate Risk 

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year
and held constant throughout the reporting period.

The Credit Union monitors its exposure to interest rate risk using gap analysis. The gap analysis report provides
a maturity profile of the Credit Union's financial Assets and liabilities to enable management to identify any
significant mismatching of assets and liabilities and hence the potential interest rate risk.

It is the Board's policy that the net potential exposure to market rate changes should not exceed 1% of the
capital base.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 1% higher or lower, the effect on profit and equity as a result of
changes in the interest rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows:

Increases in the reserve bank official cash rate is likely to have a positive effect on the Credit Union's
profitability.

+ / - 0.5%

Interest Rate

Sensitivity

+ / - 1.0% + / - 2.0%

Effect on profit / equity + / - $18,400 + / - $36,800 + / - $73,700

Percentage of capital base +/ - 0.05% + / - 0.10% + / - 0.20%

Impact on 2010 pre-tax profit + / - 0.87% + / - 1.73% + / - 3.46%

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(e) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - REGULATORY CAPITAL

The Credit Union’s regulator (APRA) sets and monitors capital requirements for the Credit Union. The Credit
Union reports to APRA under Basel II capital requirements effective from 1 January 2008. The Credit Union
has adopted the standardised approach for credit risk and operational risk. 

In implementing current capital requirements APRA requires the Credit Union to maintain a Prudential Capital
Ratio (PCR) of 12% of total capital to total risk weighted assets.

The Credit Union’s regulatory capital is analysed in two tiers:

− Tier 1 capital, which includes general reserves and retained earnings, and other regulatory adjustments

relating to items that are included in equity but are treated differently for capital adequacy purposes.

− Tier 2 capital, which includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment allowances and

the element of the fair value reserve relating to unrealised gains on readily marketable securities

classified as available for sale.

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. The amount of fundamental tier 1 capital must
constitute at least 75% of net tier 1 capital. Residual tier 1 capital is limited to 25% of net tier 1 capital and
innovative tier 1 securities cannot exceed 15% of net tier 1 capital. Net tier 1 capital must constitute at least
50% of capital. Total tier 2 capital is limited to 100% of net tier 1 capital and total tier 2 capital net of
deductions and amortisation is limited to 50% of tier 1 capital.

Risk weighted assets are determined according to specified requirements that seek to reflect the varying levels
of risk attached to assets and off balance sheet exposures. The Credit Union’s policy is to maintain a strong
capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the
business. The Credit Union has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements throughout the
period.

There have been no material changes in the Credit Union’s management of capital during the period.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(e) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - REGULATORY CAPITAL (continued)

The Credit Union's regulatory capital position at 30 June was as follows:

2011

000's

$

2010

000's

$

Tier 1 Capital

General reserves 37 35

Retained earnings 19,382 18,824

Current year earnings 1,524 1,353

Less: Deductions (895) (842)

Total Tier 1 Capital 20,048 19,370

Tier 2 Capital

Asset revaluation reserves 562 363

General reserve for credit losses 1,190 1,093

Less: Deductions (455) (398)

Total Tier 2 Capital 1,297 1,058

Less: Equity and other capital investments in other ADI's - -

Total Regulatory Capital 21,345 20,428

Capital requirements (in terms of risk weighted assets) for:

Credit risk 133,320 115,963

Operational risk 15,475 14,362

Market risk - -

Total risk weighted assets 148,795 130,325

Capital Ratios

2011

%

2010

%

Total regulatory capital expressed as a percentage of total risk
weighted assets 14.34 15.67

Total Tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of total risk
weighted assets 13.47 14.86

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(f) OPERATIONAL RISK

Operational risk is the risk of the direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the
Credit Union’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit,
market and liquidity risks. Operational risks in the Credit Union relate mainly to those risk arising from a
number of sources including legal compliance; business continuity; data infrastructure; outsourced services
failures; fraud; and employee errors. The Credit Union’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to
balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Credit Union’s reputation with overall cost
effectiveness.

Operational risks are managed through the implementation of policies and systems to monitor the likelihood of
the events and minimise the impact. The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of
controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the
development of overall Credit Union standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

− Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including independent authorisation of

transactions;

− Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

− Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;

− Documentation of controls and procedures;

− Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and

procedures to address the risks identified;

− Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;

− Development of contingency plans;

− Training and professional development;

− Ethical and business standards; and

− Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

Compliance with Credit Union standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal
Audit. The results of these reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate,
with summaries submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors of the Credit Union.

Fraud 

Fraud can arise from member card PINS, and internet passwords being compromised where not protected
adequately by the member. It can also arise from other systems failures. The Credit Union has systems in place
which are considered to be robust enough to prevent any material fraud. However, in common with all retail
financial institutions, fraud is potentially a real cost to the Credit Union.

IT Systems 

The worst case scenario would be the failure of the Credit Union’s core banking and IT network suppliers, to
meet customer obligations and service requirements. The Credit Union has outsourced the IT systems
management to an Independent Data Processing Centre (IDPC) which is owned by a collection of credit unions.
This organisation has the experience in-house to manage any short-term problems and has a contingency plan to
manage any related power or systems failures. Other network suppliers are engaged on behalf of the Credit
Union to service the settlements with other financial institutions for direct entry, ATM and Visa cards, and
Bpay.

A full disaster recovery plan is in place to cover medium to long-term problems which is considered to mitigate
the risk to an extent such that there is no need for any further capital to be allocated.

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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(g)   FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The net fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:

(i) Liquid assets and receivables due from other financial institutions - the carrying values of cash,

liquid assets and advances to other financial institutions redeemable within 3 months approximate their

net fair value as they are short term in nature or are receivable on demand.

(ii) Investment securities and other financial assets - for financial instruments traded in organised

financial markets, fair value is the quoted market value for the asset. For investments where there is no

quoted market value, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current

market value of another instrument which is substantially the same.

(iii) Loans and advances - the fair value of loans, advances and other receivables is based on their carrying

amount net of the specific provision for impairment.

(iv) Deposits from members - the fair value of deposits from members is based on their carrying amount.

(v) Payables and other liabilities - this includes interest payable and unrealised expenses payable for

which the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable estimate of net fair value.

The aggregate net fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at
the balance date are as follows:

2011 2010

Carrying

amount

000's

$

Net Fair value

000's

$

Carrying

amount

000's

$

Net Fair value

000's

$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,966 4,966 5,783 5,783

Receivables due from other financial
institutions 43,410 43,410 37,910 37,910

Accrued receivables 682 682 487 487

Loans and advances 217,572 217,572 201,856 201,856

Other financial assets 914 914 798 798

Total financial assets 267,544 267,544 246,834 246,834

Financial Liabilities

Deposits from members 243,566 243,566 225,862 225,862

Payables and other liabilities 4,211 4,211 2,797 2,797

Total financial liabilities 247,777 247,777 228,659 228,659
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Note 25 Economic Dependency

The Credit Union has an economic dependency on the following suppliers of services:

Indue Limited is a Special Service Provider to the Credit Union. The entity provides the Credit Union
financial services such as investment, banking, member chequing, direct entry transactions, Cuecards and Visa
cards.

First Data International Limited (FDI) provides the switching computer used to link Cuecards and Visa
cards through ATM and EFTPOS networks to the Credit Union's EDP system.

Data Action provides and maintains the central banking and internet banking systems for the Credit Union.
They also provide electronic data processing services for the Credit Union.

Note 26 Securitisation

The Credit Union has an arrangement with Indue Securitisation Pty Limited whereby it acts as an agent to on
sell loans to Trinity Mortgage Origination Trust securities program. The Credit Union also manages the loans
portfolio on behalf of the trust. The Credit Union bears no risk exposure in respect of these loans. The amount
of securitised loans under management as at 30 June 2011 was $3,036,633 (2010: $3,234,176).

Note 27 Company Details

The registered office of the Credit Union is:

Coastline Credit Union Limited

64 Elbow Street

West Kempsey  NSW  2440

These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the attached Independent Auditor's Report 
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